IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

oct 10 by

WALTER RUIZ,

Appellant,

Chier Deputy Class

vs.

Case No. 89,201

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Walter Ruiz, along with Micky Hammonds, Lotia Romanes, and Delio Romanes, was charged by indictment in Hillsborough County on April 26, 1995 with first degree murder of Rolando Landrian, armed kidnapping with a firearm, and robbery with a firearm (R1/62-65).2 Appellant's case was severed for trial (R14/1291-92,1301). On June 12, 1996, appellant's counsel filed a pre-trial motion in limine asking that the state be prohibited from introducing any evidence that appellant "was charged with robbery in other counties, that he solicited others to help in robberies in other counties, or inferring in any way that he participated in robberies" (R3/423-24). In this motion, the defense conceded that the facts that appellant was in jail in Seminole County, that he bonded out, and that he failed to appear in court on April 4, 1995 were relevant and were "integrally linked to both the State and defense cases" (R3/423). However, the defense asserted, "the nature of the charges for which he was incarcerated (robbery) has no relevance whatever", and "[w]hile the Defendant concedes no legal relevance at all, any relevance is overwhelmed by the prejudicial impact", especially in view of the fact that the charged murder of Rolando Landrian was also, in part, a robbery (R3/423-24).

The deceased's name is variously spelled Landrian or Landrain in the record. The correct spelling is Landrian.

² The trial transcript will be cited by the <u>transcript</u> volume number, followed by a page number. Pleadings, documents, and exhibits will be cited "R", followed by the <u>record</u> volume number and a page number.

At a hearing on August 1, 1996, the prosecutor acknowledged that she could not think of a reason why the fact that the underlying charge for which appellant had been in jail was for armed robbery "would be something that would be admissible in Mr. Ruiz' case." The prosecutor continued "So I think it was in everybody's understanding that unless I came up with something I wasn't going to go into it, but the fact that he was in jail I think is absolutely relevant" (R14/1391). Defense counsel agreed, "in my motion I said I didn't have a problem with the fact that he was in jail or the fact that he skipped bond on April 4, it was just the fact that the charge itself was robbery" (R14/1391). The judge³ asked if she had reserved ruling on that, and defense counsel replied "You in effect granted all subject to reargument" (R14/1392, see Supplemental Record p. 26-27).

The case proceeded to trial before Circuit Judge J. Rogers Padgett and a jury on August 26 - September 5, 1996. During the trial, over defense objection, the prosecution introduced rebuttal evidence elicited from appellant's mother Julia Ramirez -- on the asserted basis of impeachment by a prior inconsistent statement -- which informed the jury that the earlier charges in Seminole County were for robbing stores (8/837,873-81,890-93).

Appellant was found guilty as charged on all counts (9/1023; R3/493-94). After the penalty phase of the trial, the jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 10-2 (12/1240; R3/532).

³ A predecessor judge, Claudia Isom, heard this and other pre-trial motions.

On October 7, 1996, the trial court imposed the death penalty for the murder of Landrian, and concurrent sentences of life imprisonment on the other counts (14/1274; R3/546-62). The trial court found as aggravating factors (1) that appellant was previously convicted of felonies involving the use or threat of violence;⁴ (2) that the capital felony was committed during the course of a kidnapping; (3) that it was committed for financial gain; and (4) that it was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner (R3/556-58), The first two aggravators were given substantial weight, and the last two were given great weight (R3/559-60). The court found no statutory mitigating factors, but he found that the evidence established numerous nonstatutory mitigating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt (R3/558-59). These were:

Defendant is a fair and considerate father to his four children including two stepchildren; he played games with them, he participated in their activities, helped with homework and treated them equally both before and after the separation between himself and his ex-wife, the children's mother. Defendant has always supported his children financially. the separation defendant was always steadily employed in Orange County and when the family lived in New York City. Defendant helped willingly with the housework and cooking. Before the separation defendant attended church regularly and was active in church affairs by singing and testifying and "gave his heart to God in the church". Defendant participated willingly and actively in family gatherings. From jail the defendant talks to his children and stepchildren on the telephone and writes them inspirational and loving letters and this contact is important to the children and they would continue this contact with defendant were he to be sentenced to life

⁴ These included a conviction of resisting an officer with violence and three convictions of armed robbery (R3/556).

in prison. Defendant's mother loves him and communicates with him and would visit him in prison were he to be sentenced to life in prison. Defendant's conduct and lifestyle changed abruptly for the worse about two years ago.

(R3/558-59)

The trial court found that these nonstatutory mitigating factors should be given considerable weight (R3/559).5

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Trial - Overview

The prosecution's theory of the case was that appellant and Micky Hammonds were solicited and paid by a Tampa couple, Delio and Lotia Romanes, to kill Rolando Landrian. [Landrian was Lotia Romanes' former common law husband, and they had a daughter together, Zuhay. Lotia had two other daughters -- Myra and Llorca -- from a relationship with Ernesto Acosta (see 11/1154-56). Lotia and her present husband, Delio, were now working for (and apparently residing at least part of the time with) Rolando Landrian in Tampa]. Lotia told appellant and Hammonds that Landrian had been having sex with her daughters (Myra and Llorca) over a long period of time, and she was going to get the girls out of the relationship (see 3/344). According to the prosecution, Hammonds drove the car, while appellant abducted Landrian from a convenience store parking lot and soon thereafter shot him to death.

⁵ Due to the length of this brief, the penalty phase evidence will not be set forth in the Statement of Facts, but will be discussed in the argument sections as necessary.

The state's key witness was Hammonds, who had made a plea bargain immediately prior to his own trial. The state also presented three witnesses -- all strangers to appellant -- who had made pre-trial or in-court identifications. Each of these were challenged on cross-examination.

For the defense, appellant testified that he was not in Tampa on the day of the murder and he did not kill Landrian. The Romanes, who were drug customers of his, had approached him about roughing up the man who had been molesting and abusing Lotia's daughters, but appellant had declined. He had suggested to them that Micky Hammonds might be interested. The defense's theory was that Micky Hammonds was indeed the driver, but that the shooter was either a third party or, more likely, Delio Romanes himself (See 3/294,320-23;9/945,948,951,958,960-64,972). The defense presented four alibi witnesses -- appellant's ex-wife, his mother, and two acquaintances -- who placed him in the Orlando area at the time of the murder (and throughout the entire day of the murder, during

⁶ During voir dire, in ascertaining whether the prospective jurors could consider the testimony of a co-defendant who plea bargained with the state, the prosecutor commented "If anybody here has a predisposition not to hear [Micky Hammonds], we better pack up our bags and go home" (2/107).

These witnesses included Charles Via, a convenience store stocker whom the prosecutor acknowledged was obviously mentally slow (9/926); he picked appellant's picture out of a photopak, but when he saw appellant in court he said he was not the guy he had seen abducting the victim. Store manager Michael Witty was not shown any photopaks, but he identified appellant in court; his opportunity to observe was called into question on cross. Mary Jo Hahn did not make an in-court identification, but she said she had recognized appellant's photograph in a newspaper article about the crime, as being the passenger in a car similar to Hammonds' car which was parked in the vicinity of Rolando Landrian's house. Her opportunity to observe was also impeached.

which Micky Hammonds said appellant was in Tampa stalking Landrian). The defense also presented a jail inmate who testified that Micky Hammonds admitted to him that they were framing appellant; the person who actually did the shooting was the stepfather (i.e., Delio Romanes) of the girls who were raped by the murder victim. Hammonds said the stepfather was paying him to implicate appellant.

All of the key witnesses for both sides -- Hammonds, the ID witnesses, appellant, the alibi witnesses, and the inmate -- were the subject of intense cross-examination and impeachment. The case turned on the jury's assessment of credibility.

B. State's Case (Micky Hammonds)

Micky Hammonds testified that he was indicted for kidnapping, robbery, and first degree murder of Rolando Landrian. The murder charge carried a maximum penalty of death and a minimum penalty of life imprisonment, and the state had announced it was seeking the death penalty for Hammonds. Immediately before his own trial was to begin, Hammonds decided it was time to cut a deal, and he ultimately received a twenty year prison sentence (3/324;4/409-12).

Hammonds testified that he met appellant in late 1994 at Bonita [Griffin's] house (3/325-26;4/389). He only met him that one time prior to appellant's incarceration in Seminole County (4/389). While appellant was in jail, Hammonds met Maria Vasquez through a mutual friend (3/326;4/389). Hammonds and Maria became good friends, and he later learned that she was appellant's girl-

friend (3/326-27;4/389). A couple of times Hammonds drove her to the jail to visit appellant (3/327).

At Maria's apartment, while appellant was still in the county jail, Hammonds made the acquaintance of a couple named Delio and Lotia Romanes (3/327-28;4/389). The Romanes were people who bought drugs from appellant (4/389). Hammonds saw them at Maria's twice (3/328-29; 4/389-90). Hammonds was also introduced by Maria to an individual named Abraham Machado (whom Hammonds knew as "Gordo") (4/390). On the one or two times he saw Gordo prior to April 6, 1995, appellant was not present (4/390). April 6, the day they bought the gun, was the first time Hammonds saw Gordo and appellant together (4/390-91).

Maria told Hammonds that appellant was getting out of jail, and she invited Hammonds to come over and party with them (3/329). The prosecutor then asked Hammonds if, when they first met, he and appellant had ever had "any conversations about your possibly assisting him or working with him" (3/329). Hammonds replied that they did (3/329). Over defense objection, the prosecutor asked whether they talked about a specific robbery, and Hammonds answered, "No, we never talked about a specific robbery. He just asked me do I want to drive for him and he had to take care of something for Delio and them in Tampa" (3/332, see 3/329-32). Hammonds agreed to drive (3/333).

On April 6, 1995, Hammonds was at a friend's shop when he got a phone call from his roommate Dianne, telling him that appellant and another guy were at the house (3/333-34). Hammonds returned home at around 2 p.m. Appellant and Delio Romanes were there,

along with Hammonds' two roommates (3/334-35). Appellant asked Hammonds if he was ready to go. He told him to pack some clothes; they were going to Tampa and staying overnight (3/335). Appellant said they would take Hammonds' car, which was a 1984 Chrysler Fifth Avenue (3/335-36). They went to a pawn shop around the corner to buy some bullets. Delio gave Hammonds the money to purchase the bullets, because Delio had no Florida ID or driver's license (3/336). Then appellant said they were going near where Maria lives, where a friend of his (the man Hammonds knew as "Gordo") was going to buy him a pistol (3/337). They picked up Gordo and drove to a second pawn shop (3/338-39). The others were all speaking Spanish, which Hammonds does not speak or understand (3/338-39). At the pawn shop, Delio and Gordo got out of the car, while appellant and Hammonds drove to a store, waited 15-20 minutes, and returned to pick them up (3/339-40,4/391). Delio pulled a pistol out of his pocket in a bag and handed it to appellant (3/340). Then they drove to Gordo's house, for Gordo to grind the serial number off the pistol (R3/340;4/392).

They drove to Tampa, with Delio and appellant in Delio's car and Hammonds following in his own car with the gun in his trunk (3/341). Hammonds testified that he did not know exactly where he was going or what he was going to do there (3/341-42). They arrived at a trailer somewhere past the airport (3/342). Lotia Romanes was there. She gave Delio some money, and the three men went out to get some beer and cocaine, which they brought back to the trailer and consumed (3/342-43). While they were sitting around talking, Lotia (who was the one talking English most of the

time) said her ex-husband had been having sex with her daughters, and the girls were tired, and she was going to try to get them out of the relationship with the guy (3/344; 4/396-97,414-16). She said the guy keeps them locked up; they were effectively prisoners of his (4/397). This had been going on for twenty years (4/397). By this time, Hammonds knew that a specific person was going to be killed the next day (3/345).

Lotia wanted to see the gun, so Hammonds brought it inside. She asked "Are you sure this gun will do the job", and appellant said it would (3/343). Lotia explained that the guy would be hard to kill, and appellant told her not to worry, he could do it (3/344).

They were up all night, and very early the next morning -April 7 -- they left the trailer (3/345-46; 4/398). Hammonds and
appellant were in one car, and Delio was in another car; Hammonds'
car was not used at this time (3/345-46). They went to a convenience store operated by Landrian, and sat in the cars for over two
hours waiting for him to come and open up (3/345-48). Delio had
given appellant a set of Landrian's car keys; appellant was going
to abduct him and take him back to the Romanes' trailer in his own
car (3/347-48; 4/394,397). While appellant and Hammonds were waiting, Delio (who was parked around the corner another block away)
twice came over to them, saying there were guys with cameras taking
pictures and "The guy knows we"re waiting on him, trying to put
this hit on him" (3/348-39). Appellant told him no, "[Y]ou're
tripping, man", we're going to wait a little longer (3/349)

Neither Landrian nor anyone else showed up to open the store, and eventually they went back to the trailer (3/349-50). After a while, Lotia called her daughter to find out why Landrian hadn't opened the store, and found out that he was planning to go to Miami (3/350; 4/356,358). Also, he was driving a different car than the one they had the keys to; a maroon Nissan rental car (4/358-59). They decided they had to try to catch him before he left for Miami (4/358).

This time Hammonds and appellant were in Hammonds' car (the white over maroon Chrysler), and Delio and Lotia were in a yellow or beige rental car (4/357,361-62). On the way, Hammonds followed Lotia through a neighborhood, where she pointed out the house where Landrian lived (4/359). They did not stop, but proceeded to the convenience store where they had been earlier in the morning (4/ 357-360). Landrian's maroon rental car was there (4/359). The Romanes pulled up beside Hammonds' car, and Delio gave appellant some money and a beeper number (4/360). Hammonds and appellant waited in the parking lot for an hour and a half until Landrian finally came out of the store; by this time the Romanes had already left (4/361). Landrian drove away in his rental car, and Hammonds began following him (4/361-62). Landrian was driving fast and zigzagging through traffic; Hammonds was unable to keep up and they lost him after a couple of red lights (4/362).

They tried to beep the Romanes but got no response, so they rode around for a while until they found themselves back near the subdivision where Lotia had showed them Landrian's house (4/363). They parked on a side street and watched the house (4/363-64).

After about twenty minutes, they saw the rental car shoot out of the driveway and down the street, still driving like a maniac, and they took off behind the guy again (4/354-65,400). Hammonds had to run some red lights to keep up with him (4/364-65). They followed him onto an expressway, and Hammonds told appellant the guy was probably on his way to Miami; they wouldn't be able to keep up with him as fast as he was driving and they didn't have enough gas to keep following him (4/365). At one point appellant said he was going to shoot him through a window (R/400-01). Landrian "shoots down a ramp again", down a main highway, and pulled into a convenience store parking lot (4/365-66).

It was now about 7:00 or 7:30 p.m. (4/367). Appellant told Hammonds to pull in, he was going to get him here (4/366). Landrian was on the phone or heading toward the phone (4/366). Appellant jumped out of the car and walked up real fast with a pistol in his hand (4/366). Landrian turned, and appellant said something to him in Spanish, grabbed him, and hit him in the face with the pistol (4/366). Hammonds figured the guy must have seen the qun; "[h]e starts following Walter, and Walter starts leading him towards my car" (4/366). Appellant put him in the front seat, and appellant got in the back seat (4/366). [Hammonds reiterated on cross that appellant hit Landrian in the face with a pistol, not a wrench. There was a crescent wrench in the car at the time of the abduction, and it was still there when Hammonds was arrested, but according to Hammonds the crescent wrench did not play any role in this crime (4/401)].

As Hammonds was backing out of the parking lot, a guy with a bag over his head started walking toward the car (4/366,401-02). Appellant stuck the pistol out the window and told him to back up (4/366). As Hammonds drove away, he saw the man writing something; he assumed it was his tag number (4/367,401-02). Appellant was in the back holding the pistol, hollering at Landrian in Spanish (4/368). Landrian, also talking Spanish, was pulling off his jewelry and chains, taking money and keys out of his pocket, and giving them to appellant (4/368-69,402). Hammonds turned down a street and appellant told him to stop the car. Appellant opened Landrian's door and Landrian got out. As he started walking away from the car, appellant approached him, drew the pistol, and shot him repeatedly (4/370). Appellant then jumped back in the car and Hammonds took off (4/370).

Hammonds figured he needed to get rid of the car, because the cops were going to be looking for it (4/371). They pulled over across the street from another convenience store, intending to leave the car and call Lotia and Delio to come get them (4/371-72, 403). When they were unable to get in touch with the Romanes, they decided to call a cab. The cab arrived and they told the driver their car had broken down and they were waiting for a friend to pick them up (4/371-72). They paid the driver to let them wait in the car, and after ten more minutes had passed, Delio and Lotia showed up in yet another of their rental cars, a grey one (4/372, 403). Hammonds and appellant got in the car with the Romanes, leaving Hammonds' car where it was parked (4/372, 403).

They returned to the convenience store where the abduction had taken place to get Landrian's rental car. [Appellant had taken the keys away from him before the shooting] (4/373,403-04). The reason for doing this was that Landrian was supposed to have ten thousand or twenty thousand dollars in a bag he carried with him (4/373-74). Appellant and Delio walked across the street to retrieve Landrian's car, while Hammonds stayed in the Romanes' rental car with Lotia (4/373). They then traveled in the two cars to a bowling alley, where Delio and appellant searched Landrian's vehicle (4/374-75). Hammonds did not see them find anything (4/375).

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