WALTER RUIZ,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 89,201

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CORRECTED ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I. The Court should reject appellant's argument that there was flagrant prosecutorial misconduct mandating a new trial. Most of the errors now complained of were unaccompanied by contemporaneous objection to preserve them for appellate review, were not errors and did not rise to the level of fundamental error. The single remark of the prosecutor that was objected to was immediately sustained by the trial court, was made in response to the defense argument accusing state agents of negligence and indifference; no other relief was sought than the one request for mistrial which the court in the proper exercise of its discretion determined not to be absolutely necessary. If there were any error, it was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence which included eyewitness identification by disinterested observers.

ISSUE II. The prosecutor's anecdote in penalty phase closing argument regarding her father's sense of responsibility did not constitute fundamental error and the absence of contemporaneous objection precludes review as mere error. The anecdote appropriately reminded the jury that accepting responsibility sometimes required facing unpleasant tasks and making difficult choices, as juries sometimes do.

ISSUE III. The lower court did not err in allowing the state to impeach the defendant with evidence of his prior incarceration

for the offense of robbery. Appellant opened the door in his testimony by falsely suggesting that he was a mere peaceful drug dealer unaccustomed to violence or the use of guns to obtain the property of others and to impeach his testimony that he had told his mother he did not want to turn himself in on pending charges because he was not guilty (rather than that he did not act alone). In any event, any error was harmless.

ISSUE IV. The lower court did not commit reversible error in allowing the state to introduce at penalty phase a close-up crime scene photo of the victim, an enlarged photo of an exhibit previously introduced during the guilt phase. Appellant has failed to show an abuse of the trial court's discretion in the admission of evidence. The photograph was admissible because it showed "the nature of the crime", F.S. 921.141(1), <u>Henyard v. State</u>, 689 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1996), was relevant to demonstrate the CCP aggravating factor and to persuade jurors that this was not simply an attempted robbery gone awry. See <u>Willacy v. State</u>, 696 So.2d 693 (Fla. 1997) (penalty phase evidence of photos depicting victim proper to show aggravating factors of HAC <u>and CCP</u>).

ISSUE V. The details of the incident which led to appellant's prior arrest and conviction for resisting arrest with violence were properly admitted. <u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1986); <u>Finney v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1995). Appellant did not

preserve for appellate review by objection below any complaint that blood was found on the gun and it was clear it was appellant's bleeding which led officers to escort appellant to a paramedic. Any error is harmless since defendant conceded to the jury in closing argument the existence of the violent felony aggravator for his robbery and resisting arrest convictions. (Vol. 13, TR 1213-1215)

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

WHETHER APPELLANT SHOULD RECEIVE A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE OF ALLEGEDLY FLAGRANT PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

Appellant points to the following incidents² to support a thesis that there was flagrant prosecutorial misconduct contributing to his conviction:

- (1) the guilt phase rebuttal closing argument at Vol. 11, TR975-976 (Brief, pp. 53-54);
- (2) the comment at Vol. 11, TR 940 referring to gross photos, wherein no objection was interposed, and a reference to Pinocchio (also unobjected to) (Brief, pp. 66-67);
- (3) an expression by the prosecutor of his view that defense

²It is not clear whether appellant is complaining that the prosecutor's unobjected-to comment at voir dire that if jurors had a predisposition not even to listen to the testimony of perpetrator Mickey Hammonds "we better pack our bags and go home" (Vol. 5, TR 107) constitutes part of the flagrant prosecutorial misconduct he otherwise urges for reversal. If it is, the failure to object below bars appellate review. The contention is also meritless since it is proper for counsel on both sides to inquire of prospective jurors regarding their ability and willingness to maintain an open mind until all the evidence has been submitted. Just as the defense sought that jurors not immediately judge based on the fact that Ruiz had missed a court appointment (Vol. 4, TR 48), so too one should not be surprised that the prosecutor urged consideration of the testimony of an eyewitness to the murder even if he had also participated in the kidnapping. (Vol. 5, TR 106-_ So.2d ____, 22 Florida Law Weekly See <u>Pooler V. State</u>, 108) S697 (Fla. 1997) (prosecutorial comment at voir dire that you have to presume him innocent but that doesn't mean he is innocent is not an improper statement of law nor constitute an expression of prosecutor's personal belief in quilt).

witnesses Nancy Ruiz and Julia Ramirez may have been lying (Brief, pp. 65-66) - another unobjected-to comment;

- (4) the prosecutor's argument at Vol. 11, TR 928 and 931 that appellant had changed his appearance for court (Brief, p. 72) an unobjected to remark;
- (5) a comment by the prosecutor that Delio Romanes was not picked out of a lineup (Vol. 11, TR 931-932) - unobjected to by the defense (Brief, p. 72);
- (6) the prosecutor improperly acting as translator on "Gordo - Gago" (Vol. 11, TR 933-934) (Brief, p. 74) in yet another unobjected to and unpreserved for appellate review comment.
- (1) As to the prosecutor's rebuttal argument at Vol. 11, TR975-976, the record reveals the following:

What interest, ask yourselves what interest does Charles Via, Michael Witty the Hahns, Dianne Guty and Abraham Machado have in seeing that somebody other than the person responsible for this horrible crime be convicted? What interest do we as representatives of the citizens of this county have in convicting somebody other than the person --

> MR. DONERLY: <u>Objection</u>, Your Honor. THE COURT: Yeah, <u>sustained</u>.

MR. DONERLY: Move for a mistrial.

THE COURT: Denied.

MS. COX: Delio Romanes was charged in this case. What interest is there to bamboozle anybody about Delio's real role in this case. Ask yourselves that. No one is saying Delio Romanes has clean hands, but what interest does anybody have in saying that Delio Romanes isn't the person responsible for this if he was?

(emphasis supplied)

The challenged comment came in response to the defense argument that Mickey Hammonds should not be believed because the plan by the kidnapper-killers "doesn't make sense" (Vol. 11, TR 945), that the identification made by Mary Hahn was questionable (". . . can you imagine a more suggestive identification procedure . . . " -- Vol. 11, TR 947) and that there was "tremendous pressure on people to be a good citizen , to be a hero. There's a presumption of guilt in the real world" -- Vol. 11, TR 948). The defense further argued that the police did not check Delio Romanes' foot size ("It became obvious that it was of no use in confirming their theory; the blinders go on. We don't disconfirm our theory" -- Vol. 11, TR 953), and did not look for trace evidence in the recovered automobile ("you don't look; you don't find" -- Vol. 11, TR 954). The defense further intimated that Detective Rockhill was a coercive influence (". . . and while I'm not suggesting Detective Rockhill said we'll arrest anyone who testifies for you, it sounded like that. It sounded like that to a scared man sitting in the Orange County jail or the Orange County sheriff's office" -- Vol. 11, TR 971). 3

³One can hardly imagine a more ridiculous scenario than seven-time convicted Walter Ruiz (Vol. 10, TR 859) who proudly testified that he is a non-violent drug dealer (with penalty phase exhibits

With this assault on the competence and carelessness of state agents it should perhaps not be too surprising that the prosecutor felt the sting of a defense insinuation that state authorities either might not care or indeed might have a self-interest in convicting the wrong person. When the prosecutor -- apparently wrongly-attempted to defend herself by answering that state officials might not have an interest in convicting the innocent, the trial court sustained the defense objection but denied a requested mistrial (Vol. 11, TR 975-976) and there was no other requested relief or complaint to the end of the argument. (Vol. 11, TR 976-996)

Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury; it is within the trial court's discretion to control the comments made to a jury and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of discretion is shown. <u>Moore v. State</u>, _____ So.2d ____, 22 Florida Law Weekly S619, 621 (Fla. 1997); <u>Hamilton v. State</u>, _____ So.2d ____, 22 Florida Law Weekly S673 (Fla. 1997); <u>Cole v. State</u>, _____ So.2d ____, 22 Florida Law Weekly S587, 589 (Fla. 1997); <u>Gudinas v. State</u>, 693 So.2d 953, 963 (Fla. 1997); <u>Terry v. State</u>, 668 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1996); <u>Merck v. State</u>, 664 So.2d 939, 941 (Fla. 1995); <u>Gorby v.</u>

demonstrating an additional penchant for armed robberies) eager to implicate ex-girlfriend Maria Vasquez in a false alibi (Vol. 10, TR 884) but reluctant to mention his mother who could assertedly truthfully supply a valid defense.

<u>State</u>, 630 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1993); <u>Power v. State</u>, 605 So.2d 856 (Fla. 1992); <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982). A court acts within its discretion when reasonable persons could agree with the trial court's ruling. <u>Hamilton</u>, *supra*.

A prosecutor may appropriately respond to unfair assaults made by the defense in its earlier closing argument suggesting that state agents had no interest in the truth or were simply concerned about acquiring a conviction of the innocent as well as the guilty. See Barwick v. State, 660 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1995)(comments of prosecutor an appropriate response to defense assertion in closing that state was hiding something); Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 1994) (defense counsel opened door which urged jury to take its role seriously); Garcia v. State, 644 So.2d 59 (Fla. 1994) (prosecutor's statements at closing argument although clearly improper if taken out of context were proper responses to defense accusation that prosecutor was attempting to use case to attain ambitions and to build a reputation); Street v. State, 636 So.2d 1297 (Fla. 1994) (permissible for state to respond to defense argument to condemn the sin but not the sinner); Stewart v. State, 620 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1993) (cross-examination was fair response to defendant's direct testimony); Williamson v. State, 511 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1987) (prosecutor's argument attempted to rebut co-defendant's argument); Dufour v. State, 495 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1986)(prosecutor's

statement was an invited response rebutting defense argument hinting that inmate could have based his testimony on papers in cell); <u>Schwarck v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 1326 (Fla. 3DCA 1990) (counsel is accorded wide latitude in making arguments to the jury, particularly in retaliation to prior improper remarks made by opposing counsel); <u>United States v. Avery</u>, 760 F.2d 1219 (11th Cir. 1985) (if defense counsel's statement involves attack on government and its conduct of case, prosecutor may present what amounts to a boisterous argument if it is specifically done in rebuttal to assertions made by defense counsel in order to remove any stigma cast upon government or its witnesses). <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 696 So.2d 326, 334 (Fla. 1997) (state was simply providing a brief response once the defense opened the door. In the context of the entire prosecutorial closing argument, we find this one sentence to be both minimal and appropriate).

The trial court could permissibly conclude that the prosecutor's remark even if improper and deserving of a ruling that the defense objection be sustained did not necessitate the extreme remedy of a mistrial. <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 645 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1994); <u>Esty v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 1994); <u>Parker v. State</u>, 641 So.2d 369 (Fla. 1994); <u>Carroll v. State</u>, 636 So.2d 1316 (Fla. 1994); <u>Gorby v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1993). If appellant is complaining ab initio about the remark "what interest is there to

bamboozle anybody about Delio's real role in this case" (Vol. 11, TR 976), the failure to object below constitutes a procedural bar precluding review. <u>Mordenti v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1994); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990).⁴ If appellant thought this latter remark merited a mistrial, it was incumbent upon him to request it. <u>Larkins v. State</u>, 655 So.2d 95 (Fla. 1995). Appellant did not even interpose a non-contemporaneous objection to this remark in his motion for new trial. (Vol. 8, TR 533-537) Even if preserved, the comment was fair rebuttal to the defense argument that the state was wearing blinders or otherwise protective of Delio Romanes. While current counsel for appellant chooses to interpret the "bamboozle anybody" remark as an impermissible assertion of the authority and integrity of the prosecutor's office, it is at least equally susceptible to the interpretation that none of the state

⁴It is true appellant did preserve for appellate review his singular objection during closing argument (and request for mistrial) to the prosecutor's comment ("what interest do we as representatives of the citizens of this county have in convicting somebody other than the person . . ." -- Vol. 11, TR 975) which was sustained. It is not true as appellant seems to imply that this one objection preserves for appellate review various and sundry objections not made below which appellate counsel has discovered and seeks to raise ab initio. <u>Simpson v. State</u>, 418 So.2d 984, 986 (Fla. 1982) (where a defense objection is sustained he must move for mistrial if he wishes to preserve his objection and he will not be allowed to await the outcome of the trial with the expectations that if he is found guilty his conviction will be automatically reversed).

witnesses had an interest to minimize the role of Delio Romanes (either Hammonds, Machado, or Rockhill or anyone else) -- a valid prosecutorial response to the earlier defense argument that Hammonds would be useless if he implicated Delio (Vol. 11, TR 958) and that not only had the defense suggested that Delio could be the real shooter but had supported it with evidence -- the testimony of James Alderman. (Vol. 11, TR 960)

(2) At the end of the prosecutor's initial closing argument, the prosecutor stated without objection:

> It's the evidence in this case that you're to look at and you look at it and you say, look at this stuff. Is this enough to give me an abiding conviction of guilt? I can't even think of a way that it isn't enough to give you an abiding conviction of guilt, an overwhelming conviction of guilt. There's no way, no stretch of the imagination because let me tell you one thing, if that guy were Pinocchio, his nose would be so big none of us would be able to fit in this courtroom on what he said on there.

> You all had an opportunity to watch him. Give me a break, okay? Look to the evidence, think about it. Use your common sense, and don't let anybody get you side-tracked, and all of you are going to come back with the only just verdict you can in this case, and remember what you're here to do is render justice. Truth equals justice, and the truth is he was the hit man. He violently kidnapped, robbed and murdered another human being and after he did that, and you saw those pictures, and how, frankly, how gross they were. After he did that, he had a burger and That's the kind of fries at a Burger King. person we're looking at over there. That's what he thought about another human being. The truth is he did that and justice is that you convict him of it.

(Vol. 11, TR 940-941)

While Ruiz now takes appellate umbrage to certain prosecutorial phraseology (a binding conviction of guilt, Pinocchio, give me a break, how "gross" the photos were), appellant's failure to complain below precludes appellate review, <u>Mordenti</u>, *supra*; nor is there anything approaching error, much less fundamental error.⁵ The prosecutor's argument constituted proper advocacy regarding the strength of the state's case and the weakness of the defendant's.

(3) Appellant also complains that the prosecutor improperly accused defense witnesses Nancy Ruiz and Julia Ramirez of lying. (Vol. 11, TR 987, 990) There was no defense objection to preserve this point for appellate review and understandably so since the <u>defense</u> counsel had invited the jury:

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